
FARMINGTON CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
Thursday, March 26, 2009 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION STUDY/WORK SESSION
 
 Present:  Chairman John Bilton, Commission members Steve Andersen, Rick Draper, Randy 
Hillier, Craig Kartchner, Michael Wagstaff, Jim Young, City Planner David Petersen, and Recording 
Secretary Cynthia DeCoursey. 
 
 Chairman John Bilton opened the work session at 6:35 p.m. 
 
(Agenda Item #1) - Approval of Minutes 
 

There were two changes to the minutes of the March 12, 2009 meeting:  Rick Draper and 
Michael Wagstaff were not in attendance at either session. 
 
 
(Agenda Item #3) - Rodney Griffin – Request that the Planning Commission review and 
provide a recommendation regarding a street standard not listed in the Farmington City 
Development Standards for the dedication of Elliot Lane in the Nicholl’s Nook PUD (S-2-07)
 

David Petersen reported that during the City Council meeting on Tuesday, March 17, 2009, 
Max Forbush presented a proposal to allow this road to be developed as a public road rather than a 
private one.  He referred to the two cross sections shown in the staff report and said the reason this 
was being heard by the Planning Commission again was because of the City Council’s decision to 
consider the new proposal.  There was a lengthy discussion regarding:  standard high-back curb 
versus rolled curb, a narrower street than the City standard, no sidewalks or a sidewalk on one side, 
parking strips, connection of the road to 200 West, and other information listed in the staff report.  A 
few of the questions discussed were:  (a) Will the road need to be vacated?  (b) Can the developer 
still do the road as a private road?  (c) Will the City force him to put in a public road in the future? 

 
Chairman Bilton reviewed the possible changes that could be proposed by the Commission:  

(1) deviate from the street standard, (2) recommend that it be left as a private street, (3) change the 
street and (4) add a sidewalk with a different standard. 
 
 
(Agenda Item #4) - Farmington City – (Public Hearing) – Applicant is requesting a 
recommendation for changes to a Scenic Byways Overlay Ordinance proposed to be Chapter 
41 of the Zoning Ordinance. The proposed overlay zone addresses design standards for 
property adjacent to and visible from Legacy Parkway in Farmington (ZT-7-08)
 

David Petersen reported that he recently heard new information regarding this Item.  Jared 
Johnson from Yesco may present this information in the regular session.  Mr. Petersen said Mr. 
Johnson’s main concern was that if federal scenic byway status was granted, the federal government 
would be able to control all of the billboards along the Parkway. 

 
Chairman Bilton adjourned the study session at 7:05 p.m. 

 1



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR SESSION 
  
 Present:  Chairman John Bilton, Commission members Steve Andersen, Rick Draper, Randy 
Hillier, Craig Kartchner, Michael Wagstaff, Jim Young, City Planner David Petersen, and Recording 
Secretary Cynthia DeCoursey 
 
 Chairman Bilton welcomed those in attendance.  He said there may have been some 
confusion regarding the Rice Farms PUD and told the audience that Mr. Preston had not notified 
City staff that his application is ready to be on the agenda.  He advised those in attendance to check 
the Farmington City website where the agendas are posted each week for City Council and Planning 
Commission meetings.  
 
 
Approval of Minutes (Agenda Item #1)   
 
Motion 
 

Steve Andersen made a motion to approve the minutes with the two minor changes that 
were discussed in the study session.  Michael Wagstaff seconded the motion, and it was 
unanimously approved. 

 
 

City Council Report (Agenda Item #2)    
 

David Petersen reported the following items: 
 

• The City Council members took the sign survey, and the results will be used by Staff 
as they consider options regarding Farmington’s sign ordinance.  

• An update was given to the Council regarding the DR Horton homes being built in 
the Farmington Greens Subdivision. 

• The boundary adjustment for the Nicholl’s Nook PUD was finalized. 
• A request to vacate an easement in Hughes Estates was approved. 
• The City Council approved a moratorium regarding the sign ordinance and may 

consider extending it to assist developers/realtors as they try to get more exposure for 
their projects and possibly generate some sales. 

• The Council approved the resolution and adopted the bylaws regarding SPARC and 
the TMU area in west Farmington.  Staff sent letters to all the property owners in the 
area and received no comments from the public or the developers.  

 
 

Rodney Griffin – Request that the Planning Commission review and provide a recommend- 
ation regarding a street standard not listed in the Farmington City Development Standards for 
the dedication of Elliot Lane in the Nicholl’s Nook PUD (S-2-07) (Agenda Item #3) 
 

Chairman Bilton said this was not a public hearing, and he asked Mr. Petersen for Staff 
comments. 
 

 2



Background Information
 
David Petersen said this Item was presented to the City Council on March 17, 2009, and 

they gave final plat approval for Nicholl’s Nook.  He explained that this is a PUD with six units and 
said the private right of way is 30 feet wide from back of curb to back of curb.  He said that as the 
City Council pondered the situation, Max Forbush presented a proposal to approve this for a public 
street instead of a private lane. There would have to be some exceptions to the City standards which 
would include:  width of the road (32 feet is City standard), sidewalks and parkstrips.  There was 
discussion among the Commission regarding whether or not the road would become a through street 
in the future.  Mr. Griffin was not present at the meetings, and Chairman Bilton proposed that the 
applicant and staff meet together for a more formal discussion regarding this road.   

 
Motion  
 

Jim Young made a motion that the Planning Commission table the request for 
recommendation of a Public Street Standard not listed in the Development Standards to allow 
staff and the applicant to provide necessary information as requested by the Commission.  
Randy Hillier seconded the motion, and it was unanimously approved. 
 
 
Farmington City – (Public Hearing) – Applicant is requesting a recommendation for changes 
to a Scenic Byways Overlay Ordinance proposed to be Chapter 41 of the Zoning Ordinance. 
The proposed overlay zone addresses design standards for property adjacent to and visible 
from Legacy Parkway in Farmington (ZT-7-08) (Agenda Item #4) 
 
Background Information 
 

David Petersen displayed the scenic byways overlay map and said Legacy Parkway was 
designated as a Utah State Scenic Byway.  He explained that there are five communities (North Salt 
Lake, Woods Cross, West Bountiful, Centerville, Farmington, and Davis County) who jointly 
applied for federal scenic byway status with the federal highway administration in December 2008.  
Each city adopted the corridor management plan that was submitted with the application. The five 
cities met together and drew up a model ordinance for an overlay zone to guide the development in 
the area so there would be consistency in design, signage, placement of buildings, and placement of 
parking lots, etc.  He referred to the differences between the cities and said that each one is making 
modifications to fit their own needs.  He said Farmington City’s circumstances are very different 
from the other four cities and pointed out the blue area on the map which shows the overlay zone.  
He explained that the boundaries were created using comments and suggestions from both the City 
Council and the Planning Commission.  He told the Commission that the changes they requested 
during the March 12, 2009 were made (the changes are shown in red in the staff report), and Staff 
sent approximately 250 notices to property owners in the area. 
 
Public Hearing Opened
 

Chairman Bilton opened the public hearing at 7:35 p.m. 
 
Jared Johnson, Yesco, 2767 Industrial Drive, Ogden, Utah, directed his comments to the 

blue area on the map.  He said he would like to be on the record as opposing such stringent 

 3



requirements.  He commented that even the current Legacy Parkway signs would not be allowed 
under this ordinance.  He said the text regarding signage was too restrictive and that the large 
amount of area covered within this overlay zone was too broad.  He asked if the Staff or 
Commission members have looked into the result of this overlay once this becomes a federal scenic 
byway.  He said that once the Byway becomes federally controlled, the City would lose its ability to 
have its own regulations.  He advised that more research be done.  Michael Wagstaff asked Mr. 
Johnson to provide more details regarding the research he had done regarding this item. 
 

Mr. Johnson said that the federal scenic byways program was established approximately 
16 years ago, and from his perspective the program is being used to federally control large areas 
of land.  He commented that some areas of the country (Virginia and other eastern states in 
particular) have had problems with this same issue, and commercial projects have been denied 
because they are within sight of a scenic byway. He cited the proposed Legacy Parkway as an 
example and said this overlay covers not only the Parkway but also I-15.  He pointed out that if 
this overlay is approved, I-15 will be regulated as if it were a scenic byway.  He said he has a 
special interest in this issue because he works in the outdoor advertising industry, and he believes 
his company and others would lose the ability to rebuild, adjust footings, or make any other 
improvements on their signs.  Steve Andersen asked Mr. Johnson for other suggestions since 
he believes this ordinance is too restrictive.  Mr. Johnson replied that the ordinance states “all 
pole signs should be removed.”  He does not agree with eliminating an entire category of signs 
and believes businesses should be allowed to advertise on their own property.  He also said that 
monument-style signs are not always ideal because of visibility issues.  He expressed concern 
regarding lighting and said he doubted that Lagoon would be within the boundaries of this text 
with its billboards and lighting. 
 

Michael Schwab, 28 West 1100 North, Farmington, is the Vice Chairman of Horizon 
Credit Union, and he said they have no objection to what has been done within the yellow area 
designated on the map.  However, the proposed view shed corridor is a cause of great concern, 
and they question the proposed boundaries and why additional restrictions are necessary.  They 
feel that much of the language in the ordinance is too broad and vague.  He also expressed 
concern that certain businesses were being singled out and asked why the businesses located on 
200 West were required to conform with the ordinance but Lagoon was not.  The Credit Union 
encouraged the Planning Commission to reject this item or at least change it significantly.  
 

Guy Haskell, 690 Temple View Drive, Bountiful, said he recently installed signs to advertise 
the Willow Creek Subdivision, and he is concerned about the proposed ordinance.  His project is 
located close to I-15 which he knew would present specific problems, but he also chose to buy the 
property so that his signs will create more recognition for his developments.  He has seen a large 
increase on his website since the signs were installed.  He stated that he is opposed to the sign and 
design changes in the ordinance and believes property values will fall or will be greatly diminished 
as a result.  He said he would recommend that the area on the east side of I-15 be removed from the 
boundary.  
 

John Percival, 22 East Glover Lane, Farmington, said he is affected by this new overlay on 
the east side of I-15.  He said there is a possibility he would want to develop his property in the 
future, and he expressed concern about additional federal regulations.  He said he is opposed to the 
proposed ordinance. 
 

 4



Dow Freeman, 25 Oak Hampton Court, Farmington, spoke as a representative from Lagoon.  
He told the Commission that in 1995, Lagoon entered into an agreement with Farmington City.  The 
City was interested in buying property for a City park, and Lagoon wanted to install a billboard.  The 
trade was made, and the City participated in the cost of the billboard.  Lagoon’s concern is that their 
sign could possibly be included in the proposed corridor.  They are also concerned that there will be 
too many guidelines and restrictions and loss of local control if this ordinance is adopted.  He said 
the Lagoon sign is not easily visible from Legacy Parkway, and Lagoon has made an effort to place 
the big rides near the freeway area so the noise, lights, etc. blend in with the noise and lights of the 
freeway.  He expressed appreciation for the attractive sound wall that was built.  
 

Wendy Leavitt, 511 South 111 West, Farmington, said she does not think this is a good idea.  
She said her property cannot be seen from Legacy Parkway, and she does not agree with the 
proposed changes. 
 
Public Hearing Closed  
 

The public hearing closed at 8:00 p.m. and Chairman Bilton asked for additional comments 
from Staff and Commission members. 

 
Mr. Petersen pointed out that Horizon Credit Union is not located in the blue area and said 

they are already restricted from certain signs in the current zoning.  He said the Percival property 
would not be affected in this overlay area.  He also emphasized that the key reason the five cities 
applied for this was to obtain additional money to be able to maintain the trail.  There was more 
discussion regarding the proposed boundary of the overlay zone, federal regulation, legal review, 
text changes, the Legacy north connector, etc. 

 
Chairman Bilton said the Commission has heard this issue many times, and they have also 

tabled it many times.  He emphasized that they want to get it right.  He said Farmington has specific 
geographic challenges because it is the narrow neck of land, and it also has the largest traffic 
interchange in the state.  He said he recognizes the need for businesses to advertise; however, the 
Commission wants to have consistency along the corridor.  Mr. Petersen mentioned that Staff has 
met with some of the property owners in the area, and they would be willing to meet with other 
owners involved to hear their concerns.  The Commission agreed that Staff should do more research 
and obtain more feedback regarding this item.  There was a brief discussion regarding possible 
extensions and/or eliminations to the overlay boundary, and Mr. Wagstaff requested that some of 
the subjective wording (i.e., interesting, substantial) be changed objective.   
 
Motion 
 

Steve Andersen made a motion that the Planning Commission continue Agenda Item #4 
until the April 16, 2009 meeting to allow staff to make changes to the proposed ordinance and to 
allow any public comment deemed appropriate to be incorporated into the proposed ordinance.  The 
following issues also need to be addressed: legal opinions, federal zone issues, text changes, whether 
or not the blue zone would be included in the overlay, and if this is the best and most efficient way to 
protect Farmington’s west side.  Craig Kartchner seconded the motion, and it was unanimously 
approved. 
Farmington City - (Public Hearing) – Applicant is requesting a recommendation for 
changes to the Official Zoning Map creating a Scenic Byways Overlay Zone. The general 

 5



vicinity for the proposed overlay zone is Legacy Highway/I-15 south of State Street to the 
Centerville City limits between 200 West and along 600 West. The proposed overlay zone is 
associated with a proposed zone text amendment to Chapter 41 Scenic Byway Overlay 
which addresses design standards for property adjacent to and visible from Legacy 
Parkway in Farmington (ZT-07-08) (Agenda Item #5)   
 
Public Hearing Opened 
 
 Chairman Bilton opened the public hearing at 8:25 p.m. 
 

Ralph Wright, 835 East 700 South, Bountiful, said he owns property near the south end of 
Farmington Jr. High.  He said most of his thoughts were addressed earlier, but he is very concerned 
about having the federal government involved in this issue.  Chairman Bilton said he received Mr. 
Wright’s email and had given a copy to the other members of the Commission. 

  
Jared Johnson believes the corridor is unnecessary.  He presented these issues: 

 
• The purpose of the ordinance is to regulate signage and lighting but Farmington is already 

regulated by both City and State ordinances. 
• There are very few, if any, places for additional signs along this corridor. 
• The Utah state statute allows for relocation of signs that are obstructed.   
• State regulation allows relocation of signs within a certain number of feet.  
• Federal regulation would prohibit the relocation of a sign located too close to highway signs 

(a “next exit” sign or a sound wall or an overpass). 
• I-15 was not included in the scenic byway designation, but it will be directly affected by it. 
• This ordinance includes too much area. 

  
Michael Schwab requested that the map be changed to show that Horizon Credit Union is 

not included in the overlay zone. 
 

Guy Haskell, 690 Temple View, Bountiful, said he talked with David Petersen regarding 
this issue, and the feedback he received was that the ordinance would not affect him.  He questioned 
why it was necessary.  He encouraged Farmington to keep this issue at the local level, and he also 
commended the efforts of the City concerning the sound wall.   
 

John Percival, 22 East Glover Lane, Farmington, said he would like to know the exact 
boundary lines of this overlay zone. 
 
Public Hearing Closed 
 

Chairman Bilton closed the public hearing at 8:40 p.m. 
 

Motion 
 

Randy Hillier made a motion that the Planning Commission table this item until the April 
16, 2009 meeting to allow staff to make changes to the proposed overlay boundary and to allow any 

 6



public comment deemed appropriate to be incorporated into the proposed overlay zone boundary.  
Rick Draper seconded the motion, and it was unanimously approved. 
 
 
Miscellaneous, correspondence, etc. (Agenda Item #6)
 
 David Petersen gave each member of the Commission a packet of emails the City received 
concerning the Rice Farms PUD. 

 
 
ADJOURNMENT
 
Motion
 
 
 Craig Kartchner made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  Michael Wagstaff seconded the 
motion, and it was unanimously approved.  The meeting was adjourned at 8:20 p.m. 
  
 
 
 
 
        
John Bilton, Chairman 
Farmington City Planning Commission 

 7


